FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/13/2020 2:24 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/14/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>98904-4</u> COA NO. 37356-8-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

IN RE DETENTION OF MICHAEL A. MCHATTON:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL A. MCHATTON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable James Orlando, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1		
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED		
	 THE ORDER REVOKING THE LESS RESTRICTIVE ALTERNATIVE IS APPEALABLE AS A MATTER OF RIGHT		
	2. THE TRIAL COURT MUST CONSIDER WHETHER THE LESS RESTRICTIVE ALTERNATIVE WAS PROPERLY IMPLEMENTED IN DECIDING WHETHER REVOCATION IS APPROPRIATE		
F.	CONCLUSION		

WASHINGTON CASES

<u>Alpine Indus., Inc. v. Gohl</u> 101 Wn.2d 252, 676 P.2d 488 (1984)14
<u>Herzog v. Foster & Marshall, Inc.</u> 56 Wn. App. 437, 783 P.2d 1124 (1989)
<u>In re Dependency of Chubb</u> 112 Wn.2d 719, 773 P.2d 851 (1989)7, 8, 12, 13
<u>In re Dependency of Grove</u> , 127 Wn.2d 221, 897 P.2d 1252, 1260 (1995)14
<u>In re Detention of Belcher</u> 196 Wn. App. 592, 385 P.3d 174 (2016) <u>aff'd</u> , 189 Wn.2d 280, 399 P.3d 1179 (2017)9
<u>In re Detention of Bergen</u> 146 Wn. App. 515, 195 P.3d 529 (2008) <u>review denied</u> , 165 Wn.2d 1041, 205 P.3d 132 (2009)9
<u>In re Detention of Elmore</u> 162 Wn.2d 27, 168 P.3d 1285 (2007)5
<u>In re Detention of Harell</u> 5 Wn. App. 2d 357, 426 P.3d 260 (2018) <u>review denied</u> , 192 Wn.2d 1019, 433 P.3d 809 (2019)9
<u>In re Detention of Morgan</u> , 180 Wn.2d 312, 330 P.3d 774 (2014)
<u>In re Detention of P.K.</u> 189 Wn. App. 317, 358 P.3d 411 (2015)
In re Detention of Petersen 138 Wn.2d 70, 980 P.2d 1204 (1999) passim

WASHINGTON CASES

<u>In re Detention of Petersen</u> 145 Wn.2d 789, 42 P.3d 952 (2002)5			
<u>In re Detention of R.R.</u> 77 Wn. App. 795, 895 P.2d 1 (1995)			
<u>In re Detention of Wrathall</u> 156 Wn. App. 1, 232 P.3d 569 (2010) 10, 11, 18			
<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Young</u> 122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993)5			
In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 466 P.2d 508 (1970)16			
Minehart v. Morning Star Boys Ranch, Inc. 156 Wn. App. 457, 232 P.3d 591 review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1029, 249 P.3d 623 (2010)			
<u>Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Marshall</u> 16 Wn. App. 503, 557 P.2d 352 (1976)10			
<u>State v. Bao Dinh Dang</u> 168 Wn. App. 480, 280 P.3d 1118 (2012) <u>aff'd</u> , 178 Wn.2d 868, 312 P.3d 30 (2013)15			
<u>State v. Beaver</u> 184 Wn. App. 235, 336 P.3d 654 (2014) <u>aff'd,</u> 184 Wn.2d 321, 358 P.3d 385 (2015)15			
<u>State v. Campbell</u> 112 Wn.2d 186, 770 P.2d 620 (1989)10			
<u>State v. Chester,</u> 133 Wn.2d 15, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997)17			

WASHINGTON CASES

<u>State v. Derenoff</u> 182 Wn. App. 458, 332 P.3d 1001 (2014)15
<u>State v. Gossage</u> 138 Wn. App. 298, 156 P.3d 951 (2007) rev'd in part on other grounds, 165 Wn.2d 1, 195 P.3d 525 (2008) 11, 13
<u>State v. McCuistion,</u> 174 Wn.2d 369, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012)
<u>State v. Pilon</u> 23 Wn. App. 609, 596 P.2d 664 (1979)11
<u>State v. Richardson</u> 177 Wn.2d 351, 302 P.3d 156 (2013)14
<u>State v. Watson,</u> 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)16
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Mathews v. Eldridge</u> , 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 839, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976) 18, 19
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Chapter 10.77 RCW 15
Chapter 71.05 RCW
Chapter 71.09 RCW 1, 7, 8
RAP 2.2
RAP 2.2(a)

OTHER AUTHORITIES

RAP 2.2(a)(8)
RAP 2.2(a)(13)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
RCW 10.77.190(4)
RCW 13.34.130
RCW 71.05.590(6)(c)
RCW 71.09.060(1)
RCW 71.09.090
RCW 71.09.090(2)
RCW 71.09.098(5)
RCW 71.09.098(6)
RCW 71.09.098(6)(a) 17, 19
RCW 71.09.098(8)
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Wash. Const. art. 1, § 3

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Michael McHatton asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

McHatton requests review of the partially published decision in <u>State v. Michael A. McHatton</u>, Court of Appeals No. 37356-8-III (slip op. filed July 14, 2020), attached as an appendix.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Whether a court order revoking a less restrictive alternative placement under chapter 71.09 RCW is appealable as a matter of right?

2. Whether the revocation statute should be interpreted to require the trial court to consider shortcomings in how the less restrictive alternative plan was implemented in the community?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

In 2002, Michael McHatton stipulated to commitment as a sexually violent predator under chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 26. In 2017, the court entered an order conditionally releasing McHatton to Aacres WA, LLC, a less restrictive alternative (LRA) in the community, with Dr. Paula van Pul as his treatment provider. CP 25-44.

In 2018, the Department of Corrections filed a notice of violation of LRA conditions, alleging McHatton possessed images of minors and failed to comply with treatment rules. CP 386-431. Under the terms of the LRA order, McHatton was prohibited from possessing images of children without the prior consent of the transition team. CP 42. McHatton was returned to confinement at the SCC. CP 388. The State moved to revoke the LRA. CP 649-975. McHatton's counsel opposed revocation, arguing the LRA plan was improperly implemented. CP 491-97. Mr. McHatton's expert, Dr. Blasingame, submitted a report detailing the failings of the implemented LRA. CP 496-559.

At the revocation hearing, Dr. Blasingame testified that the LRA plan that was ordered did not materialize, as Aacres staff were not trained in McHatton's specific needs, did not provide adequate support, and did not provide proper supervision. RP 16-17, 23-29, 40-41. The treatment provider, Dr. van Pul, had grown complacent and the treatment she provided did not meet recognized standards. RP 39-40. Dr. Blasingame acknowledged McHatton intentionally violated the prohibition against possessing pictures of children, but the violation was foreseeable in the absence of adequate supports for McHatton to succeed. RP 42, 45, 47. Dr. Blasingame contended McHatton should not stay at Aacres and, instead of confinement, should be placed in a suitable community LRA. RP 41-45. The trial court entered an order revoking the LRA, sending McHatton back into total confinement. CP 636-38; RP 61-63.

McHatton appealed, arguing the trial court erred in treating the failure of the LRA plan to be properly implemented as irrelevant to the revocation decision. In the published portion of its decision, the Court of Appeals held the revocation order was not appealable as a matter of right. Slip op. at 1. In the unpublished portion, it held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in revoking the LRA. Slip op. at 1.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. THE ORDER REVOKING THE LESS RESTRICTIVE ALTERNATIVE IS APPEALABLE AS A MATTER OF RIGHT.

RAP 2.2 sets forth a list of orders that are appealable as a matter of right. The order revoking McHatton's LRA and committing him to total confinement is appealable as a matter of right because it is an order of commitment under RAP 2.2(a)(8) or a final order after judgment under RAP 2.2(a)(13).

In a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeals majority disagreed, holding <u>In re Detention of Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d 70, 980 P.2d 1204 (1999) required discretionary review. Slip op. at 3-6 (Korsmo, J., majority opinion). The partially dissenting judge would have held review of the revocation order is appealable as a matter of right. Slip op. at 1-3 (Fearing, J., dissenting in part, concurring in part). McHatton seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

a. The revocation order qualifies as an "order of commitment" under RAP 2.2(a)(8).

Under RAP 2.2(a)(8), a party may appeal an "*Order of Commitment*." The plain language of RAP 2.2(a)(8) allows for appeal of "[a] decision ordering commitment, entered . . . after a sexual predator hearing." The LRA revocation hearing is a type of sexual predator hearing. RCW 71.09.098(5) ("At any hearing to revoke or modify the conditional release order: . . . "). An LRA revocation order is an order of commitment. <u>See</u> RCW 71.09.098(8) ("A person whose conditional release has been revoked shall be remanded to the custody of the secretary for control, care, and treatment in a total confinement facility"). The trial court ordered McHatton's confinement at the Special Commitment Center. CP 638.

The Court of Appeals majority relied on this Court's decision in <u>Petersen</u> to conclude an order revoking an LRA is not appealable as of right. In <u>Petersen</u>, a sharply divided court in a 5-4 decision held there is no right to appeal a trial court's probable cause decision at the annual show cause stage under RCW 71.09.090. <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 95. <u>Petersen</u> did not address an LRA revocation order.

<u>Petersen</u> explained "[a]n order denying a petition for a show cause hearing is not an 'order of commitment'" because "[t]he show cause hearing is in the nature of a summary proceeding wherein the trial court makes a threshold determination of whether there is evidence amounting to probable cause to hold a full hearing." <u>Id.</u> at 85-86. The annual show cause proceeding "is a summary proceeding designed to determine if an evidentiary hearing on the merits as to the person's condition is warranted." <u>Id.</u> at 83.

This hearing is limited to verification of the detainee's identity and the determination of probable cause. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Young</u>, 122 Wn.2d 1, 46, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). In determining probable cause, a court cannot "weigh and measure asserted facts against potentially competing ones." <u>State v. McCuistion</u>, 174 Wn.2d 369, 382, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012) (quoting <u>In re Detention of Petersen</u>, 145 Wn.2d 789, 797, 42 P.3d 952 (2002)). The court thus does not weigh competing expert opinions or resolve evidentiary disputes. <u>In re Detention of Elmore</u>, 162 Wn.2d 27, 37, 168 P.3d 1285 (2007). Rather, the court "must assume the truth of the evidence presented" and from that determine whether probable cause is satisfied, such that an evidentiary hearing is required to ultimately determine whether unconditional release or an LRA is appropriate. McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d at 382.

By contrast, revocation of an LRA order is not a summary proceeding. Revocation takes place only after an evidentiary hearing is held, the judge weighs the evidence, and from that determines whether the State has met its burden of proof such that return to total confinement is appropriate. RCW 71.09.098(5), (6). Witnesses testified at McHatton's revocation hearing. The judge, as trier of fact, weighed and resolved competing evidence, including the expert testimony offered by McHatton, listened to each side's argument about what should be done with the LRA, and entered findings of fact and conclusions of law based on its resolution of the evidence in its order revoking the LRA. That the LRA revocation proceeding is not a summary proceeding supports the conclusion that the revocation order is appealable as of right.

<u>Petersen</u>, in holding there is no right to appeal the denial of an evidentiary hearing at the annual show cause stage, relied in large measure on the nature of that proceeding. <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 85. It observed "such commitments are of an indefinite duration, persisting 'until such time as the person's mental abnormality or personality disorder has so changed that the person is safe either (a) to be at large, *or* (*b*) *to be released to a less restrictive alternative as set forth in RCW 71.09.092.*" Id. at 78 (quoting RCW 71.09.060(1) (emphasis added). <u>Petersen</u> drew a distinction between the initial commitment order, which subjects the person to indefinite confinement, and *release from indefinite confinement*

via a less restrictive alternative placement. Annual reviews do not change the indefinite nature of the commitment. Id. at 83. The LRA does, as recognized by <u>Petersen</u>: "the statutory scheme of chapter 71.09 RCW provides for commitment of a sexually violent predator for an indefinite period, *until that person's condition has changed sufficiently that he or she is safe to be* either at large or *in a less restrictive setting*." <u>Id.</u> at 82. It is that distinction that separates the LRA revocation order from the mere denial of an evidentiary hearing at the show cause stage.

In holding RAP 2.2(a)(8) does not apply to orders finding no probable cause at the annual review stage, <u>Petersen</u> relied on what it described as the "analogous statutory scheme" for dependency review hearings analyzed in <u>In re Dependency of Chubb</u>, 112 Wn.2d 719, 773 P.2d 851 (1989). <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 86. The comparison helps show why an LRA revocation order is appealable as a matter of right.

Under <u>Chubb</u>, "[t]he juvenile court is not required to make the determination of dependency anew at each hearing. Its function is to determine whether court supervision should *continue*. Essentially, if this supervision is to continue, then what the juvenile court has decided is to abide by the status quo: the determination of dependency." <u>Chubb</u>, 112 Wn.2d at 724. "The language of RAP 2.2(a) and RCW 13.34.130 indicates that appeal by right applies only to the disposition decision following the finding of dependency or to a marked change in the status quo, which in effect amounts to a new disposition." <u>Id.</u> at 724-25.

<u>Petersen</u> saw "no principled distinction" between the analysis in <u>Chubb</u> and the review of an adverse probable cause determination under chapter 71.09 RCW. <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 87.

There is a principled distinction when it comes to LRA revocation orders. An order finding no probable cause and denying a new trial at the show cause stage does not change the status quo. Mr. Petersen, for example, remained in total confinement following the denial of his show cause petition. An order revoking an LRA, however, significantly alters the status quo. It removed McHatton from the community and placed him back into total confinement. Unlike in <u>Petersen</u> and <u>Chubb</u>, where the trial court simply abided by the status quo in entering its order, a trial court's LRA revocation markedly changes the status quo by requiring removal from the community and placement into total confinement. A "marked change in the status quo," which in effect amounts to a new disposition, is appealable as a matter of right. <u>Chubb</u>, 112 Wn.2d at 725.

Citing to a 1994 draft comment, <u>Petersen</u> stated "our initial intent was to provide an appeal as of right only from the initial commitment order that followed the full evidentiary adjudication of an individual as a sexually violent predator." <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 85. From this, the Court of Appeals majority concluded LRA revocation orders are not commitment orders. Slip op. at 4. <u>Petersen</u>, though, had no occasion to consider whether LRA revocation orders qualify as an order of commitment under RAP 2.2(a)(8).

The plain language of RAP 2.2(a)(8) is not so restrictive, as <u>Petersen</u> itself recognized. <u>Petersen</u> noted an order of commitment following an evidentiary hearing held pursuant to RCW 71.09.090, at which the State has the burden of proof, would arguably be appealable as a matter of right as well, even though commitment status remains unchanged. <u>Id.</u> at 84, 87 n.13. As recognized by the partial dissent in McHatton's case, the decision to revoke an LRA "is not a perfunctory ruling, but a hearing similar in nature to the hearing referenced in <u>Petersen</u>'s footnote 13." Slip op. at 2 (Fearing, J., dissenting in part, concurring in part). Orders issued following an RCW 71.09.090 evidentiary hearing are routinely appealed as of right, with no challenge from the State.¹

In determining appealability, <u>Petersen</u> relied on the nature of the proceeding at issue, and specifically contrasted the denial of an evidentiary hearing, which does not alter the petitioner's indefinite

¹ See, e.g., In re Detention of Harell, 5 Wn. App. 2d 357, 367-68, 426 P.3d 260 (2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1019, 433 P.3d 809 (2019); In re Detention of Belcher, 196 Wn. App. 592, 597, 385 P.3d 174 (2016), aff'd, 189 Wn.2d 280, 399 P.3d 1179 (2017); In re Detention of Bergen, 146 Wn. App. 515, 520, 195 P.3d 529 (2008), review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1041, 205 P.3d 132 (2009).

confinement status, with release from indefinite confinement by means of an LRA. <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 82-83. LRA revocation orders should be appealable as matter of right because LRA revocation following an evidentiary hearing significantly changes the status quo, once again subjecting the person to indefinite confinement in the SCC.

b. Alternatively, the revocation order is a final order after judgment under RAP 2.2(a)(13).

Alternatively, the LRA revocation order is appealable as a final order after judgment under RAP 2.2(a)(13). That provision permits appeal of "[a]ny final order made after judgment that affects a substantial right."

A final order entered after judgment is appealable under RAP 2.2(a)(13) "if it affects a right other than those adjudicated by the earlier final judgment." <u>State v. Campbell</u>, 112 Wn.2d 186, 190, 770 P.2d 620 (1989) (citing <u>Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Marshall</u>, 16 Wn. App. 503, 508, 557 P.2d 352, 355 (1976)). The Court of Appeals majority did not dispute that revocation of McHatton's LRA affects a substantial right that was not adjudicated at the original commitment hearing.

While there is no liberty interest in an LRA before one is granted, an order revoking an LRA deprives the person of a liberty interest in conditional release. <u>In re Detention of Wrathall</u>, 156 Wn. App. 1, 6-7, 232 P.3d 569 (2010). An order revoking an LRA requires the person be returned to total confinement. RCW 71.09.098(8). That person remains committed unless and until at some future date he is once again able to satisfy the requirements of RCW 71.09.090 and RCW 71.09.092 providing for release to an LRA. RCW 71.09.098(8). <u>Wrathall</u> equated the revocation of an LRA with the revocation of parole. <u>Wrathall</u>, 156 Wn. App. at 6-7. The revocation of parole has long been reviewed as appealable as a matter of right. <u>State v. Pilon</u>, 23 Wn. App. 609, 611, 596 P.2d 664 (1979). The confinement resulting from the order in question establishes the substantial right at stake, making the order appealable.

A final judgment or order leaves "nothing else to be done to arrive at the ultimate disposition of the petition." <u>State v. Gossage</u>, 138 Wn. App. 298, 302, 156 P.3d 951 (2007), <u>rev'd in part on other grounds</u>, 165 Wn.2d 1, 195 P.3d 525 (2008)). The "petition" at issue here is the State's petition to revoke McHatton's LRA. The court granted that petition and ordered McHatton's commitment to the SCC. By granting the State's petition, nothing else was to be done to arrive at the ultimate disposition of that petition and McHatton's LRA. The order is therefore final.

Per <u>Petersen</u>, "[a] decision under RCW 71.09.090(2) finding no probable cause is not a final order after judgment in light of the court's continuing jurisdiction over the committed persons until their unconditional release," as it "disposes only of the petition before the trial court and achieves no final disposition of the sexually violent predator." <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 88. In that context, the denial of an evidentiary hearing is simply "an interlocutory order." <u>Id.</u> Again, <u>Petersen</u> analogized to <u>Chubb</u>. <u>Petersen</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 86-87. In <u>Chubb</u>, the Supreme Court held periodic review orders in dependency proceedings were not "final" because the dependency statute "mandates that review hearings occur every 6 months after the original disposition. This review process continues until either the status quo changes and the court decides that its supervision should not continue or until a petition for termination is made. Because they take place on an ongoing process, the review hearings and the orders issued from them are interlocutory: they are not final, but await possible revision in the next hearing." <u>Chubb</u>, 112 Wn.2d at 724.

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