FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/28/2020 3:18 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98904-4

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

In re the Detention of:

MICHAEL MCHATTON,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KELLY A. PARADIS Assistant Attorney General WSBA #47175/ OID #91094 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3001

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

- A. Well-Settled Precedent Supports the Court of Appeals' Conclusion That an LRA Revocation Order is Not Appealable as a Matter of Right
 - 1. An LRA revocation order is not an "order of commitment" under RAP 2.2(a)(8)

The Court of Appeals properly determined that an order revoking a sexually violent predator's LRA placement is not an "order of commitment"

² The trial court consolidated the revocation order with an order on show cause. The appeal was later bifurcated and the show cause portion of the order is not at issue in this appeal.

under RAP 2.2(a)(8). As this Court previously explained, that provision applies only to orders of commitment following a trial where an individual is adjudicated to be a sexually violent predator.

In 1994, this Court amended RAP 2.2(a)(8) to allow for direct appeals from commitment orders "after a sexual predator hearing." *In re Det. of Petersen*, 138 Wn.2d 70, 85, 980 P.2d 1204 (1999). Following this amendment, this Court confirmed that RAP 2.2(a)(8) has limited application. In *In re Detention of Petersen*, 138 Wn.2d 70, 85, 980 P.2d 1204 (1999), the Court stated, "[T]here can be no dispute our initial intent was to provide an appeal as of right *only* from the *initial* commitment order *that followed the full evidentiary adjudication of an individual as a sexually violent predator.*" (Emphasis added.) It reasoned that there should be a right to appeal such an order "[b]ecause it can result in a person's indefinite commitment." *Id.* This Court later reaffirmed this conclusion in *In re Detention of Turay*, 139 Wn.2d 379, 393 n. 8, 986 P.2d 790 (1999) (stating that sexually violent predators "may, as of right, appeal their *initial order of commitment* pursuant to RAP 2.2(a)(8)").

This Court has soundly rejected arguments to expand the scope of RAP 2.2(a)(8). In *Petersen*, it rejected an argument that an order denying a release trial and continuing Petersen's commitment following an annual review show cause hearing was an "order of commitment" under RAP 2.2(a)(8). 138 Wn.2d at 85-90. In reaching that conclusion, it analogized to a dependency case, *In re Dependency of Chubb*, 112 Wn.2d 719, 773 P.2d 851 (1989), where this Court determined that a dependency review order

was not appealable as a matter of right because it was simply a continuation of the status quo; it was not a new determination of dependency. *Id.* at 86-87 (citing *Chubb*, 112 Wn.2d at 724-25). Relying on that analysis, *Petersen* similarly concluded that an order denying a release trial is not tantamount to an order of recommitment. *Id.* at 84-87.

Here, there is no dispute that the LRA revocation order is not the initial commitment order. McHatton stipulated to his commitment as a sexually violent predator in 2002. CP 26. Further, like the orders in *Petersen* and *Chubb*, the LRA revocation order did not change McHatton's status as a committed sexually violent predator or amount to a new disposition on that issue. At an LRA revocation hearing, the court does not determine if the person is a sexually violent predator. *See In re Det. of Jones*, 149 Wn. App. 16, 30, 201 P.3d 1066 (2009) ("an SVP's commitment status is not at issue at an LRA revocation hearing"). Accordingly, McHatton's commitment as a sexually violent predator still flows from the original commitment order, and it is not the LRA revocation order that results in his indefinite commitment.

The Court of Appeals properly relied on *Petersen* when it concluded that an LRA revocation order is not an "order of commitment" within RAP 2.2(a)(8). Slip. op. at 4-5. McHatton's attempts to avoid application of that case fail.

McHatton first distinguishes LRA revocation orders from the order in *Petersen* by arguing that an LRA revocation proceeding is not a summary proceeding. *See* Petition at 4-6. But this argument oversimplifies *Petersen*'s

analysis. *Petersen*'s conclusion did not rest on the fact that a show cause hearing is a "summary proceeding." Rather, this Court's analysis hinged on the fact that the show cause hearing did not amount to a new disposition of the sexually violent predator's commitment status. *See Petersen*, 138 Wn.2d at 85-88. Thus, this distinction is immaterial. Further, to the extent that *Petersen* relied on the nature of the proceeding, an LRA revocation proceeding is a summary proceeding in that it is a nonjury proceeding and carries a lower evidentiary standard and lower burden of proof than a trial. *See* RCW 71.09.098(5); *see also* Summary Proceeding, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019) ("A nonjury proceeding that settles a controversy or disposes of a case in a relatively prompt and simple manner"). Indeed, the hearing in this case was less than two hours long and involved just one live witness. *See* VRP (Vol. I) 3-69.

Next, McHatton attempts to distinguish *Petersen* by claiming that unlike an order denying a trial, an LRA revocation order "change[s] the indefinite nature of the commitment." Petition at 6. This claim fails because it completely misapprehends the sexually violent predator statutory scheme. A person remains indefinitely committed as a sexually violent predator even while on conditional release. *Jones*, 149 Wn. App. at 30; *see also* RCW 71.09.020(18), (16). *Petersen* did not hold to the contrary. The quotations from that case on which McHatton relies are summaries of RCW 71.09.060(1). And that statute simply stands for the proposition that a sexually violent predator shall be placed in *a secure facility operated by the department of social and health services* until the person is

unconditionally released or conditionally released to an LRA. RCW 71.09.060(1).

McHatton also distinguishes *Petersen* and *Chubb* on the basis that, unlike the orders in those cases, his removal from the LRA and return to total confinement resulted in a change in the status quo. Petition at 7-8. But this argument, too, oversimplifies *Petersen*'s analysis. The relevant inquiry is not whether there has been any change in the status quo. Rather, it is whether the change, in effect, amounts to a new disposition on the issue of whether the person should be committed as a sexually violent predator. *See Petersen*, 138 Wn.2d at 86-87. Here, as discussed above, while the LRA revocation order changed McHatton's placement, it did not amount to a new determination of the issue of his commitment as a sexually violent predator. At all times during these proceedings, McHatton has remained indefinitely committed as a sexually violent predator and subject to the court's jurisdiction as such. *See* RCW 71.09.090(5).

Lastly, both McHatton and the dissent point out that *Petersen* acknowledged in a footnote that orders following release trials are "arguably" appealable as a matter of right. Petition at 9; Slip. op. (Fearing, J, dissenting in part) at 2. They argue this footnote should encompass LRA revocation orders. *Id.* But *Petersen* reasoned that such orders are arguably reviewable as a matter of right because "[s]uch hearings appear to be the equivalent to whole new trials with the same procedural protections as the initial commitment trial," the "State "must again prove [the person] to be a sexually violent predator beyond a reasonable doubt," and the person's "continuing commitment would flow

from this new, subsequent determination, rather than from the original order of commitment for purposes of RAP 2.2(a)(8)." 138 Wn.2d at 87 n.13. None of those factors apply to an LRA revocation order. Thus, while *Petersen* may support a conclusion that an order following a release trial is an "order of commitment," it does not support a conclusion that an LRA revocation order falls within that category.

2. An LRA revocation order is not a "final order after judgment" under RAP 2.2(a)(13)

The Court of Appeals also properly determined that an LRA revocation order is also not a "final order after judgment" under RAP 2.2(a)(13). As the Court correctly recognized, an LRA revocation order is not a "final order" within the scope of that rule due to the trial court's continuing jurisdiction over the sexually violent predator proceeding. Slip. op. at 5-6.

A right to appeal under RAP 2.2(a)(13) requires "a showing of (1) effect on a substantial right and (2) finality." *State v. Coleman*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 507, 518, 431 P.3d 514 (2018) (quoting *State v. Howland*, 180 Wn. App. 196, 201 n. 3, 321 P.3d 303 (2014)). The State does not dispute that an LRA revocation order affects a substantial right. As McHatton notes, the revocation order placed him back in total confinement. Petition at 10-11; *see also In re Det. of Wrathall*, 156 Wn. App. 1, 6-7, 232 P.3d 569 (2010). However, an LRA revocation order does not satisfy the "finality" prong. "A final judgment or order 'leaves nothing else to be done to arrive at the ultimate disposition of the petition." *Coleman*, 6 Wn. App. at 519 (internal

quotation marks omitted) (quoting *State v. Gossage*, 138 Wn. App. 298, 302, 156 P.3d 951 (2007)).

This Court has repeatedly determined that post-commitment orders in sexually violent predator cases are not final appealable orders because the trial court retains jurisdiction until the person's unconditional discharge. The reasoning in those cases applies equally to LRA revocation orders.

For example, in *Petersen*, this Court held that the order denying a release trial was not appealable under RAP 2.2(a)(13) because it was not a final order "in light of the court's continuing jurisdiction over the committed persons until their unconditional release." 138 Wn.2d at 88. It explained that the order disposed "only of the petition before the trial court and achieve[d] no final disposition of the sexually violent predator." *Id.* Accordingly, the order was an interlocutory order subject to discretionary review. *Id.*

Similarly, in *In re Detention of Turay*, 139 Wn.2d 379, 392-93, 986 P.2d 790 (1999), this Court concluded that the order denying Turay's motions to dismiss and for reconsideration was not a "final judgment" under RAP 2.2(a)(1). In doing so, it cited *Petersen* and noted that the trial court has continuing jurisdiction over a sexually violent predator until the person is unconditionally discharged. *Id*.

Here, like in those cases, an LRA revocation order "achieves no final disposition of the sexually violent predator." *Petersen*, 138 Wn.2d at 88. It only altered the nature of his confinement. Further, the trial court retains jurisdiction over McHatton until his unconditional discharge pursuant to RCW 71.09.090(5). Indeed, once back in total confinement, McHatton will

continue to receive annual reviews, which entitle him to show cause hearings at which the issue of his conditional release may again be litigated. *See* RCW 71.09.098(8), RCW 71.09.090.

Both McHatton and the dissent argue that an LRA revocation order is appealable as a matter of right because it affects a substantial right, similar to the revocation of parole or probation. Petition at 11 (citing *Wrathall*, 156 Wn. App. at 6-7; *State v. Pilon*, 23 Wn. App. 609, 611, 596 P.2d 664 (1979)); slip op. (Fearing, J, dissenting in part) at 2-3. They also compare sexually violent predator LRA revocation orders to a variety of other proceedings, including revocation orders in other commitment proceedings and orders altering visitation rights. Petition at 15 n. 2; slip. op. (Fearing, J, dissenting in part) at 3.

But sexually violent predator post-commitment proceedings are unique. They involve an indefinite civil commitment, regular review hearings, and changes in placement depending on the sexually violent predator's treatment needs or community safety. Moreover, the cases upon which McHatton relies about other commitment proceedings did not address the question of appealability of revocation orders. Petition at 15 n. 2. And the decision upon which the dissent relies about visitation rights did not contain any analysis about the finality of the visitation order at issue. *See Sutter v. Sutter*, 51 Wn.2d 354, 355-56, 318 P.2d 324 (1957). Thus, these cases fail to establish that *Petersen* is incorrect.

Further, the fact that the trial court retains jurisdiction over sexually violent predators distinguishes this case from the criminal parole context.

Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), the authority to sanction most

offenders on criminal supervision rests with the Department of Corrections or Indeterminate Sentence Review Board, not the courts. *See* RCW 9.94A.6332; *State v. Bigsby*, 189 Wn.2d 210, 214-216, 399 P.3d 540 (2017). The case on which McHatton relies for the proposition that parole revocation is appealable as a matter of right was decided prior to the SRA. *See Pilon*, 23 Wn. App. at 609. And, since 1981, parole decisions have been appealed as personal restraint petitions. *See e.g.*, *In re Mines*, 146 Wn.2d 279, 45 P.3d 535 (2002); *In re McNeal*, 99 Wn. App. 617, 994 P.2d 890 (2000).

McHatton also claims that the revocation order satisfies the finality prong because there was a final disposition of "the State's petition to revoke [his] LRA." Petition at 11. But as this Court made clear in *Petersen*, an order is not appealable under RAP 2.2(a)(13) if it "disposes only of the petition before the trial court and achieves no final disposition of the sexually violent predator." 138 Wn.2d at 88. Here, there is no dispute that the order did not achieve final disposition of the sexually violent predator. Thus, the fact that the order disposed of the State's revocation petition is immaterial.

McHatton again attempts to distinguish *Petersen* and *Chubb* by claiming that in those cases there was a "certainty of future, regularly occurring proceedings mandated by statute at which the same issue could be litigated." Petition at 13. He claims that a revocation order is different because it is "a one-time event." *Id.* However, this argument fails because it overlooks the fact that in light of the trial court's continuing jurisdiction over McHatton, he will continue to have regularly occurring proceedings at

which the issue of conditional release may be litigated. *See* RCW 71.09.098(8), RCW 71.09.090.

McHatton also claims that "if *Petersen* is interpreted to compel the conclusion that LRA revocation orders are not appealable, then *Petersen* is incorrect and harmful and should be overturned." Petition at 16. But overturning *Petersen* would be a major upheaval of well-settled law regarding the appealability of post-commitment orders in sexually violent predator cases. Such a result is unnecessary where, as McHatton acknowledges, Petersen did not even address LRA revocation orders. Petition at 4, 8-9. More importantly, *Petersen* was correctly decided. It is consistent with the plain language of RAP 2.2(a) and the sexually violent predator scheme, which provides that a trial court retains jurisdiction over a sexually violent predator until the person's unconditional discharge. Further, McHatton's argument that *Petersen* is harmful is premised entirely on the erroneous assumption that discretionary review is an inferior review process. See Petition at 16. Yet Petersen expressly rejected this argument by recognizing that "as a practical matter, for meritorious claims, the discretionary review screening should present no great obstacle to obtaining review by an appellate court under RAP 2.3(b)." 138 Wn.2d at 89. The mere fact that *Petersen* supports a conclusion that an LRA revocation order is subject to discretionary review does not make it a harmful decision.

Lastly, McHatton claims that policy considerations weigh in favor of concluding that LRA revocation orders are appealable as a matter of right. Petition at 13-15. In general, he claims that direct review is appropriate because discretionary review is "seldom granted" and an LRA revocation order has "tremendous consequence." *Id.* at 14, 15. But appealability under RAP 2.2(a)(13) is more than a determination of whether an order is likely to result in the grant of discretionary review or whether it has significant consequences. McHatton's policy arguments, in effect, eliminate the finality prong of RAP 2.2(a)(13). And such a ruling would drastically expand the number of orders that are appealable as a matter of right, as it could even encompass orders granting or denying petitions for modification of LRAs, which are brought under the same statute as petitions for revocation. RCW 71.09.098. Moreover, the policy considerations cited by McHatton apply equally to the State. For example, the State would also be required to seek discretionary review of any order *denying* its petition to revoke an LRA.

B. The LRA Revocation Statute Satisfies Due Process and Does Not Require the Trial Court to Expressly Consider Alleged Deficiencies of an LRA

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